RECEIVED

Jul 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Case No. 2019A2310100518
Appellate Case No. 2025-002150

Letitia H. Verdin, Acting Circuit Court Judge

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Robert D. Foster,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joshua Snow Kendrick
Christopher S. Leonard
KENDRICK & LEONARD, P.C.
7 Mills Avenue (29605)
Post Office Box 6938
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 760-4000
Josh@KendrickLeonard.com

Attorneys for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE PLEA COURT ERRED IN SUA SPONTE PLACING THE APPELLANT ON THE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY WHEN THE STATE PRODUCED NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE REGISTRY AND THE APPELLANT PRODUCED EVIDENCE THAT HE SHOULD NOT BE ON THE REGISTRY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Robert Foster was arrested on November 12, 2019, and charged with two counts of Criminal Sexual Conduct, Third Degree related to a single incident with a single victim. After negotiations with the State, Appellant agreed to plead guilty to one count of Assault and Battery, First Degree with no recommendation.

On November 30, 2021, Appellant pled guilty in front of the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. Judge Verdin¹ sentenced Appellant to 8 years in prison and placement on the Sex Offender Registry (“Registry”). Counsel specifically objected to the Registry based on the evidence presented at the plea hearing.

On December 7, 2021, Appellant filed a motion to reconsider requesting the Court reconsider both his sentence and his placement on the Registry. After a series of communications between the parties and the Court, the motion was finally denied on June 17, 2025, and written notice of the Order was provided to counsel on October 14, 2025. Counsel filed a notice of appeal on October 22, 2025.

Appellant has served all his prison time, so the only issue remaining is whether he should be on the Registry.

¹ Judge Verdin has since become Justice Verdin, but she is referred to as “Judge” when referencing her time as a Circuit Court Judge. This is not intended to be disrespectful, but only for clarity since she was a Circuit Court Judge at the time of the proceedings which form the basis for this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court should look at two related standards when determining whether the Circuit Court properly placed Appellant Foster in the Registry. The Court's overarching review is for abuse of discretion, which occurs when the sentence imposed was based on either an error of law or a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record. *In the Interest of Christopher H.*, 432 S.C. 600, 605 (Ct. App. 2021).

Though abuse of discretion is the basic standard of review, the decision to place a defendant on the Registry is not without guidance. South Carolina statutory authority dictates that a Circuit Court can only impose the Registry "... if good cause is shown by the prosecutor." S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D).

To properly decide this appeal, the Court must determine if the Circuit Court appropriately exercised its discretion in determining the State showed "good cause" to include Appellant on the Registry.

ARGUMENT

1. THE PLEA COURT ERRED IN SUA SPONTE PLACING THE APPELLANT ON THE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY WHEN THE STATE PRODUCED NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE REGISTRY AND THE APPELLANT PRODUCED EVIDENCE THAT HE SHOULD NOT BE ON THE REGISTRY.

a. The plea proceedings.

Appellant Foster appeared before the Circuit Court to plead guilty on November 30, 2021. Foster pled guilty to assault and battery in the first degree, which carried up to 10 years in prison. (R. 13, ll. 2-4).

There was some dispute about the facts presented in this case, because the State read the facts that would support criminal sexual conduct in the third-degree charge. This charge involves sexual battery with the victim, with one or more of the following circumstances: (a) use of force or coercion to accomplish the sexual battery in the absence of aggravating circumstances, or (b) knowledge that the victim suffers a mental defect, is mentally incapacitated, or is physically helpless, and (c) no aggravated force or aggravated coercion was used to accomplish the battery. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-654(1)(a)-(b).

Assault and battery in the first degree involves an unlawful injury or attempt to injure a person with the existence of another element. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-100(C)(1)(a)-(b). The aggravating factor applicable to this case is the “...nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing, with lewd and lascivious intent...” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-100(C)(1)(a)(i).

Both charges carry the same sentence of ten years. The criminal sexual conduct charge requires mandatory placement on the Registry, while the assault and battery leaves that placement to the plea judge. In imposing sentence, the plea court recognized that the reduction from criminal sexual conduct to assault and battery was an important benefit to the Appellant. (R. p. 24, ll. 21-25). Because both charges carried the exact same sentence, the clear implication in the change in charges was the difference of opinion on the facts and the Court’s responsibility in placing the Appellant on the Registry.

The State recited the relevant facts. The State reported there was vaginal penetration and the Appellant held his hand over the victim's throat. (R. p. 16, ll. 17-24). The State also claimed he sent an apology message on Snapchat the following morning admitting to rape. (R. p.16, l.25 – p. 17, l.2). Importantly, the State agreed there was no sentencing recommendation: “[i]t is straight-up to assault and battery, first degree, as to sentence and also to the Registry.” (R. p. 17, ll.6-8). The State kept its word and made no argument in support of any sentence or sentencing condition, nor did it offer any further evidence or argument after stating the facts and reciting the agreement with the Appellant.

The victim also spoke before Appellant was sentenced. While she gave emotional testimony, she did not address the facts of the case or tell the Court anything beyond what the State offered in its description of the offense. (R. p. 17, l. 12 – p.18, l. 9). The Court asked Appellant how he pled, guilty or not guilty, after hearing the facts. (R. p. 18, ll. 16-18). He pled guilty but did not state he agreed with all the facts put forward by the State.

Appellant's counsel recognized he was pleading guilty at the plea hearing but did not agree with all the facts placed on the record by the State. (R. p. 19, ll. 13-15). Specifically, counsel made it clear they agreed to plead guilty to the assault and battery charge but would not have pled guilty to the criminal sexual conduct charges. (R. p. 19, ll. 16-21).

Appellant presented a report from Dr. Geoffrey McKee, an expert who conducts forensic psychosexual evaluations. (R. p.3-6; p. 20, ll.1-4). McKee's report describes numerous quantitative measures scored for sexual recidivism risk. (R. p.3-6). Based on Appellant's scores on the tests and Dr. McKee's analysis of the scores, Dr. McKee found that Appellant had a low risk of sexual recidivism and there was no quantitative reason to place him on the Registry. (R. p. 5).

Counsel went on to explain a number of mitigating factors and offered the Court support for a probationary sentence, (R., p. 20, l.5 – p. 22, l.25). Importantly, he explained Dr. McKee's report and its reflection Appellant had a very low chance of recidivism. (R. p.

22, ll.3-9). Counsel also explained the Snapchat message. He told the Court that there were a number of messages being sent back and forth between various parties and the specific message was the product of a discussion between Appellant and a friend related to his understanding of consent and whether there was consent to his actions with the victim in this case. (R. p. 23, l.1 – p.24, l. 3).

The Court then took a break and returned to sentence Appellant. (R. p.24, ll. 7-16). Appellant was sentenced to 8 years in prison and placement on the Sex Offender Registry. Counsel objected to the placement on the Registry, arguing there had been no showing of good cause. (R. p. 19, ll. 8-18). The Court responded that the “... seriousness of the allegations in this case [...] warrants good cause.” (R. p.19, ll.19-20). There was no further argument from the State, and the State did not present any evidence in support of placing Appellant on the Registry.

b. Good cause is required for placement on the Sex Offender Registry.

By statute, the *prosecution* must show good cause for placement on the Registry. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D). This Court has recognized that trial courts cannot place a defendant on the Registry sua sponte; the solicitor must show good cause for placement on the Registry. *State v. Davis*, 375 S.C. 12, 15 (Ct. App. 2007).

There are very few cases considering the “good cause” standard. However, opinions from the Court have created a framework for how the standard should be applied. This Court considered a juvenile placement on the Registry² which revealed the requirements for placing an offender on the Registry. *In the Interest of Christopher H.*, 432 S.C. 600 (Ct. App. 2021). This opinion describes the hearing presentation.

The trial court had an evaluation from the Midlands Evaluation Center that included both a psychiatric evaluation and a sex offender risk assessment. *Id.* at 602. The State relied on those records in requesting Christopher’s placement on the Registry. *Id.* at 603. The defense entered evidence into the record against placement on the Registry,

² There is no difference between placing a juvenile or an adult on the Registry, so the analysis is the same.

including testimony from Dr. McKee about the evaluation he performed and its outcomes. *Id.* at 603-604. Other therapists testified in support of not placing the juvenile on the Registry.

This Court noted the Supreme Court's opinion in *In re M.B.H.* that defined good cause as considering the facts and circumstances of the case "...to make the determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually." *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 327 (2010). Most importantly for present purposes, the Supreme Court discussed the State's evidence in support of the Registry:

At the dispositional hearing, the solicitor introduced the Center's evaluation report to support the request for Appellant to be placed on the private sex offender registry. The judge relied on the professional findings and recommendations in that report in concluding good cause existed for placing Appellant on the registry. The record is clear that the judge considered all the facts and circumstances of this case, both aggravating and mitigating, in determining that there is a risk of sexual reoffense. Such a determination is supported by the evidence in the record.

Id. at 327. *M.B.H.* describes the situation contemplated by the statute. The prosecution requested placement on the Registry and presented evidence in support of that request. The trial court's granting of the request was a proper exercise of its discretion.

This Court distinguished the presentation in *M.B.H.* from the one in *Christopher*. Because the statute requires a showing of good cause, the legislature intended to require more than a scintilla of evidence for placement on the Registry. *In the Interest of Christopher H.*, 432 S.C. at 606. This Court noted that there was never a zero risk of reoffending, and if any risk of reoffending was sufficient to trigger the Registry, the legislature had passed a law that would not accomplish anything. *Id.* at 606-607.

In the Interest of Christopher H. sets out how to show good cause. This Court found that the only evidence in that case indicated a low risk to reoffend and did not support placement on the Registry. *Id.* at 607. Because the only evidence of reoffending revealed a low risk, this Court found the lower court abused its discretion by imposing a sentence based on an error of law or a factual conclusion not supported by the evidence. *Id.*

c. The statutory reasoning behind “good cause” aligns with the Court’s view that the Registry is non-punitive.

The Registry comes with onerous requirements. The general counsel for the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”) has testified it has lifetime reporting requirements³ and would even prevent a college student from living on campus. *In the Interest of Christopher H.*, 432 S.C. 600, 603 (Ct. App. 2021). There are numerous other restrictions that go along with the Registry.⁴

Despite the numerous restrictions that come with placement on the Registry, most challenges to its punitive nature have failed. South Carolina appellate courts have repeatedly held the Registry is not punitive. The Supreme Court has held that the General Assembly did not intend to punish sex offenders, but rather to protect the public from offenders who may reoffend and aid law enforcement in solving sex crimes, which is also linked to the potential to reoffend. *State v. Walls*, 348 S.C. 26, 31 (2002). The registration of offenders has been viewed by the Supreme Court as rationally related to achieving the legislature’s objective of protection from offenders who may reoffend. *In the Interest of Ronnie A.*, 355 S.C. 407, 409 (2003).

Based on the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the Registry law and the legislative intent of the law, it focuses on reoffending. Any other view would disregard both legislative intent and South Carolina precedent based on numerous decisions reviewing the Registry and its operation.

d. The prosecution did not present good cause to place Appellant Foster on the Registry.

As the previous sections establish, South Carolina law requires the prosecution to demonstrate good cause for placement on the Registry. The plain language of the statute

³ Counsel recognizes the statute has slightly changed and there is now potential to be removed from the Registry if certain conditions are met, but even under the new law an offender faces decades on the list.

⁴ <https://scor.sled.sc.gov/FAQs.aspx> (last accessed February 2, 2026).

requires a showing from the prosecution. Any other interpretation renders the reference in the statute to “the prosecution” superfluous, which is prohibited by the rules of statutory interpretation. Statutes should be read so no word is rendered irrelevant or unnecessary. *State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 351 (2010). In addition to that rule, it is critical to determine and effectuate the intent of the legislature. *Montgomery v. Spartanburg Cnty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 77, 81 (Ct. App. 2016).

Two matters derive from these rules. First, the prosecution bears the burden of proof under the Registry’s statutory scheme. Additionally, the statute must be interpreted in light of the legislative intent, which means the “good cause” contemplated by the statute should relate to the legislative concern about reoffending. Any other interpretation, especially linking the Registry solely to the facts of one case, runs the risk of imposing the Registry as punishment. That would turn much of the jurisprudence surrounding the Registry on its head. A punitive aspect would require a very different view of the Registry and allow broader challenges to its application which is inconsistent with legislative intent.

In the instant case, the only evidence of recidivism risk was presented by the Appellant. Because reoffending is the primary focus of the Registry, this kind of evidence should be the most important information in considering good cause for placing a defendant on the Registry. Appellant presented the Court with a report from Dr. McKee showing that he was a low risk for reoffending and there was no reason to put him on the Registry. (R. p. 3). The Court did not question the report or evince any doubt about its accuracy or findings.

On the other hand, the prosecution presented no evidence of risk of reoffending. It read the facts of the case but made no argument in support of the Registry nor did it attempt to link any of its evidence or statements at the plea to a risk of reoffending or the propriety of placement on the Registry. A proper reading of the statute requires the prosecution to show good cause for placement on the Registry. The Court cannot simply

find it without such a showing, because the prosecution bears the burden of proof under the statute. There cannot be a finding without that showing.

Irrespective of the prosecution's failure to show good cause in this case, the entire record offers no support for imposition of the Registry. The State simply set out the facts of the case. While these are appropriate for determining the ultimate sentence, the Registry cannot be part of punishment under South Carolina's statutory scheme. The Court would have to link the Registry to some fact that supported a concern about reoffending. Without that, there can be no good cause for the Registry.

Because there was no argument or request from the prosecution to place Appellant on the Registry, he should not have been placed on the Registry. Even if there had been such a request in this case, the only evidence related to recidivism was produced by the Appellant. And that evidence directly contradicted any belief Appellant should be placed on the Registry. Dr. McKee did not just state Appellant had a low risk of reoffending; he also stated there was no quantitative reason to place him on the Registry. In other words, the evidence did not support the placement on the Registry. As that was the only evidence presented relevant to the Registry, Appellant Foster should not have been placed on the Registry.

CONCLUSION

The "parade of horrors" is rarely a useful rhetorical device. But it fits perfectly here. Allowing Appellant Foster to remain on the Registry in light of the record in this case would render South Carolina's statutory scheme meaningless. If the record and argument in this case allow for Appellant to be placed on the Registry, any case could result in such a placement in violation of the statute's legislative intent. Additionally, disregarding the legislature's clear directive regarding that placement risks placement on the Registry becoming a punishment for the facts of the case which is at odds with both the statute and appellate opinions interpreting the statute.

Two things have to happen for proper placement on the Registry: (1) a showing of good cause, and (2) the showing is made by the prosecution. Neither occurred in this case.

The prosecution made no showing. The record only reflects evidence that Appellant was not at risk of reoffending, which is grounds for not placing him on the Registry. Because there was no evidence to support the Registry, coupled with no request or argument for the Registry from the prosecution, the Court abused its discretion in placing the Appellant on the Registry.

Appellant Robert Foster respectfully requests the Court reverse the decision of the lower court and order Appellant removed from the Sex Offender Registry.