**RECEIVED**

**Jul 07 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-002150

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT DOLAN FOSTER,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

CINDY S. CRICK  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The circuit court judge did not err by ordering Appellant to register as a sex offender as part of his sentence.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant was arrested on November 12, 2019, and charged with two counts of third-degree criminal sexual conduct. Appellant agreed to plead guilty to one count of first-degree Assault and Battery with no recommendation.

On November 30, 2021, Appellant pled guilty in front of the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. Appellant was sentenced to eight years in prison and ordered to register on the sex offender registry (Registry). Defense counsel objected to the registry requirement based on the evidence presented at the plea hearing.

On December 7, 2021, Appellant filed a motion to reconsider requesting the Court reconsider both his sentence and placement on the registry. After a series of communications between the parties and the Court, the motion was denied on June 17, 2025, and written notice of the Order was provided to counsel on October 14, 2025. Appellant filed a notice of appeal on October 22, 2025. This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016). When reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a trial judge's sentencing decisions in rare and unusual circumstances in light of the broad discretion afforded to trial judges on such matters. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952); see State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974) ("A broad discretion is allowed the trial judge in imposing sentence within the legal limits."); see also State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) ("A trial judge generally has wide discretion in determining what sentence to impose. It is also true that before making that determination, a judge may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited either as to the kind of information he may consider or the source from which it may come.").

Relatedly, an appellate court will not interfere with a trial judge's discretionary decision to order a criminal defendant to register as a sex offender absent an abuse of discretion. In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 327, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542-543 (2010); see State v. Fuller, 425 S.C. 468, 479, 822 S.E.2d 910, 916 (Ct. App. 2019) (recognizing an appellate court reviewing a discretionary decision regarding sex offender registration must apply a "deferential" standard of review). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); see also United States v. Summers, 666 F.3d 192, 197 (4th Cir. 2011) (instructing an appellate court will not find a trial judge's ruling constituted an abuse of discretion unless it was arbitrary and irrational).

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court judge did not err by ordering Appellant to register as a sex offender as part of his sentence.**

On November 30, 2021, Robert Dolan Foster pled guilty to first-degree assault and battery in front of the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. (R. 16). During the plea hearing the solicitor gave the following facts:

As to Mr. Foster, on 10/18/19 this 20-year-old defendant sexually assaulted the 18-year-old victim, who was sleeping in his sister's room in Greenville County.

The victim reported the defendant came into the room and asked if she wanted to have sex to which she said no several times. She stated he took off her pants in a forceful manner, digitally penetrated her vagina and then penetrated her vagina with his penis. The defendant ejaculated on her stomach. And she also reported that during this assault he held his hand over her throat. She said she was in shock and scared to move during the assault.

The defendant sent Snapchat messages to the victim the next morning that stated, sorry for raping you. Please don't tell on me to the police.

He did one day in jail, Your Honor. His record is a 2019 conditional discharge for a possession of marijuana pled down from a PWID and auto breaking.

And there is no recommendation in this case, Your Honor. It is a straight-up to assault and battery, first degree, as to sentence and also to the registry.

(R. 16-17). Judge Verdin asked how Appellant pled after hearing the stated facts and Appellant pled guilty. (R. 18).

The victim gave a statement on how her life had been impacted. (R. 17-18). She stated that she struggles with mental illness and PTSD since the assault. (R. 17). She stated that she suffers from self harm thoughts daily and it has created problems with sobriety for her. (R. 17-18). She stated that she is in constant mental and physical pain. (R. 18).

At the end of mitigation, Judge Verdin asked defense counsel if Appellant admitted to sending the Snapchat message the next day. (R. 23). Defense counsel stated that he did concede to sending the message, but that it was in the "grander scheme of the conversations going on that morning." (R. 23).

Defense counsel stated that they opposed the sex offender registry. (R. 22). A recess was taken and Judge Verdin stated:

I wanted to take a break to think about the facts that were presented by the State. I wanted to consider the witness statement. I wanted to consider the report. I wanted to consider what I had given in similar circumstances and look at that.

This is—I understand that the defendant doesn't agree with everything put forward by the State. It might have a different characterization of this. But this is simply not a case in which I could consider giving you probation on.

The facts in this case, the fact that the case has been reduced to an assault and battery in the first degree, I do take into account that there has been a reduction, and your attorney has certainly done you quite a service getting that reduced. And I take all the facts into consideration.

I take into consideration the fact that you have a fairly limited record, but you do have a record. I take into consideration, as I said, the egregious nature.

And the sentence of the court is eight years, credit for the day served. And with those facts, I simply have no other choice but to put you on the Sex Offender Registry.

(R. 24-25).

Appellant contends that the trial court erred by imposing sex offender registry sua sponte. Specifically, Appellant argues that Appellant's due process rights were violated by imposing the sex offender registry when the state produced no evidence to support the registry and Appellant produced evidence that he should not be on the registry. However, this argument lacks merit because the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion by ordering Appellant to register as a sex offender following Appellant's conviction for first-degree assault and battery because the facts and circumstances before her—including Appellant's entry of a guilty plea to an offense of a sexual nature—established a good cause basis to believe Appellant was a risk to sexually reoffend, and her ruling in that regard was supported by the evidence and testimony presented during the plea hearing. Under such circumstances, there is no proper basis upon which to disturb the circuit court judge's discretionary decision on appeal. Both Appellant's conviction and the order requiring sex offender registration should be affirmed.

Under Section 23-3-430(A), “Any person, regardless of age, residing in the State of South Carolina who is in this State has been convicted of, pled guilty or nolo contendere to an offense described below, or who has been convicted, pled guilty or nolo contendere, or found not guilty by reason of insanity in the United States federal courts of a similar offense, or who has been convicted of, pled guilty or nolo contendere or found not guilty by reason of insanity to an offense for which the person was required to register in the state where the conviction or plea occurred, shall be required to register pursuant to the provisions of this article. A person who has been found not guilty by reason of insanity shall not be required to register pursuant to the provisions of this article unless and until the person is declared to no longer be insane or is ordered to register by the trial judge.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(A). see M.B.H., 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542 (“[A] finding of good cause in this context means only that the judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make the determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually.”).

The section lists several offenses all somewhat sexual in nature that apply. In this case Appellant pled guilty to first-degree assault which are not specifically included in the list of offenses requiring mandatory registration upon conviction. However, section § 23-3-430(D) gives the judge discretion to order registration for a non-enumerated offense if good cause is shown by the solicitor. See S.C. Code § 23-3-340(D) (Upon conviction, guilty plea, or plea of nolo contendere of a person of an offense not listed in this article, the presiding judge may order as a condition of sentencing that the person be included in the sex offender registry if good cause is shown by the prosecution).

By entering his guilty plea and admitting to the conduct he engaged in with victim, Appellant was guilty in the eyes of the law of the offense to which he pled, and that offense—as

directly acknowledged by Appellant during the plea proceedings—involved the non-consensual touching of Victim’s private parts with lewd and lascivious intent. Further, there was a Snapchat message sent by Appellant that he conceded to sending stating “sorry for raping you. Please don’t tell on me to the police.” (R. 17). Based on Appellant’s conviction for an offense of a sexual nature, the admittance to “raping” victim, and the residual effects on the victim, Judge Verdin had a legitimate basis upon which to find good cause had been shown by the solicitor to believe that Appellant was a risk to sexually reoffend, and, therefore, properly could and did order Appellant to register as a sex offender pursuant to South Carolina Law. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D); see Fuller, 425 S.C. at 481, 822 S.E.2d at 917 (“[T]he trial court acted within its discretion in ordering Fuller to register as a sex offender because of evidence that the kidnapping charge of which he was convicted included an attempted criminal sexual offense”).

Furthermore, because the circuit court judge properly considered all the facts and circumstances before her and had factual support for her determination, the plea judge in no way abused her discretion or committed any other legal error by doing so. See M.B.H., 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542-543 (holding the family court judge did not abuse his discretion by discretionarily ordering M.B.H. to register as a sex offender when “[t]he judge relied on the professional findings and recommendations in [an evaluation] report in concluding good cause existed for placing [M.B.H.] on the registry” and “the judge considered all the facts and circumstances of [M.B.H.’s] case, both aggravating and mitigating, in determining that there is a risk of sexual reoffense”). Accordingly, her factually-supported discretionary decision was not erroneous simply because Appellant would have preferred a different outcome following his conviction for a sexual offense. See Fuller, 425 S.C. at 479, 822 S.E.2d at 916 (recognizing a circuit court judge’s discretionary decision regarding sex offender registration must be afforded

deference on appeal); cf. In re Care & Treatment of Kennedy, 353 S.C. 394, 398, 578 S.E.2d 27, 28-29 (Ct. App. 2003) (“While there may be some evidence supporting Kennedy’s claim that he is not a sexually violent predator, including a normal PPG test result, there is more than enough evidence to support the decision reached by the trial court. . . . [I]n light of our limited scope of review, we find the trial court did not err in concluding Kennedy was a sexually violent predator and in committing him to the DMH for treatment.”). Both Appellant’s conviction and the order requiring sex offender registration should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.